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We, TRIG R. SMITH and MATTHEW L. MUSTOKOFF, declare as follows:
1.

We, Trig R. Smith and Matthew L. Mustokoff, are partners of the law firms of

Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP (“Robbins Geller”) and Kessler Topaz Meltzer & Check, LLP
(“Kessler Topaz”), respectively. Our firms – together, Court-approved co-Lead Counsel, represent
Court-appointed Lead Plaintiffs Randall Duck, Jerry W. Jewell, individually and as trustee of the
Jerry W. Jewell Trust, Philip Marner and Donald E. McAlpin, and representative plaintiffs Iron
Workers Mid-South Pension Fund, Joseph Martiny, Jayne McCarthy, Robert Grabowski, Marjorine
Dowd, Kyle Hare, Robert DeStefano and Eugene R. Salmon (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) and the
Class. We have been actively involved in the prosecution and resolution of this action, are familiar
with its proceedings, and have personal knowledge of the matters set forth herein based on our active
supervision and participation in the case.
2.

We submit this Joint Declaration in support of Lead Plaintiffs’ motions, pursuant to

Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, for approval of: (a) the October 27, 2016
Stipulation of Settlement (“Stipulation” or “Settlement”),1 which provides for a cash settlement of
$20,500,000 (the “Settlement Amount”) in exchange for the release of claims against the Released
Parties; (b) the proposed plan for allocating the net settlement proceeds to eligible members of the
Class (the “Plan of Allocation”); and (c) Lead Counsel’s application for an award of attorneys’ fees
and expenses incurred in prosecuting the Litigation on behalf of the Class.

1

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein, shall have the same meanings as is set forth in
the Stipulation. Dkt. No. 234.
-11252858_1
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I.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
3.

After more than four years of litigation, Plaintiffs and Lead Counsel have succeeded

in obtaining a highly favorable result for the Class. In obtaining this result, Lead Counsel overcame
numerous hurdles, including the Court’s dismissal of Plaintiffs’ Consolidated Class Action
Complaint for failure to plead falsity and scienter and the corporate defendant’s Chapter 11
bankruptcy filing and subsequent dismissal from the case.2 At each stage of the case, Defendants3
aggressively advanced their clients’ interests and asserted numerous comprehensive defenses. These
defenses would continue to present risks for Plaintiffs’ case had the Settlement not been reached.
4.

As discussed in more detail below, the Settlement was achieved only after Lead

Counsel, inter alia: (i) conducted or oversaw a detailed and diligent investigation of Plaintiffs’
claims including interviews of several former Molycorp employees and other persons with
knowledge of relevant information; (ii) successfully overcame, in part, Defendants’ comprehensive
motion to dismiss the First Amended Consolidated Complaint; (iii) successfully overcame the
Officer and Director Defendants’ motion for summary judgment; (iv) initiated targeted and thorough
2

Molycorp, Inc. (“Molycorp” or the “Company”) filed a voluntary petition for Chapter 11
Bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware on June 25, 2015.
Dkt. No. 161. On that same date, Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed Molycorp as a Defendant in this
action. Dkt. No. 162.
3

Defendants are: (i) Mark A. Smith (“Smith”), James S. Allen (“Allen”), John F. Ashburn, Jr.
(“Ashburn”), Ross R. Bhappu (“Bhappu”), John L. Burba (“Burba”), Brian T. Dolan (“Dolan”),
Mark Kristoff (“Kristoff”), Charles R. Henry (“Henry”), Jack E. Thompson (“Thompson”),
Russell D. Ball (“Ball”), and Alec Machiels (“Machiels”) (collectively, the “Officer and Director
Defendants” or “Individual Defendants”), and (ii) Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated n/k/a Morgan
Stanley & Co. LLC (“Morgan Stanley”); J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“J.P. Morgan”); Knight
Capital Americas, L.P. n/k/a KCG Americas LLC (“Knight”); Dahlman Rose & Company, LLC
n/k/a Cowen and Company, LLC (“Dahlman”); Stifel, Nicolaus & Company Incorporated (“Stifel”);
BNP Paribas Securities Corp. (“BNP”); CIBC World Markets Corp. (“CIBC”); Piper Jaffray & Co.
(“Piper Jaffray”); and RBS Securities Inc. (“RBS”) (collectively, the “Underwriter Defendants”).
-2-
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discovery related to the merits of the case; (v) prepared comprehensive responses to discovery
propounded by the Defendants, which included interrogatories as well as requests for production of
documents; and (vi) engaged in protracted and hard-fought settlement negotiations, including two
separate mediation sessions before the Honorable Layn R. Phillips (Ret.), a nationally recognized
mediator of complex cases and class actions. The Litigation settled after the second mediation
session with Judge Phillips.
5.

The Settlement is the product of hard-fought litigation and extensive arm’s-length

negotiations between the parties, including the meditation sessions before Judge Phillips. The terms
of the Settlement were negotiated by highly experienced and capable counsel for Plaintiffs and
Defendants with a full understanding of both the strengths and weaknesses of the case and the
parties’ respective positions.
6.

Lead Counsel believe the $20,500,000 Settlement is a favorable result for the Class.

Lead Counsel’s diligent investigation and prosecution of this matter, as outlined herein, confirmed
that while Plaintiffs’ case had numerous strengths, they also faced significant hurdles in ultimately
achieving a successful result. After carefully evaluating both the strengths and weaknesses of
Plaintiffs’ claims, Lead Counsel are confident the Settlement represents a highly favorable resolution
of this Litigation. And, as set forth below, although each of Plaintiffs’ claims were supported by
documentary evidence, the risk remained that they may fall short of prevailing on the merits at
summary judgment or trial.
7.

Plaintiffs alleged Molycorp’s top executives violated §§10(b) and 20(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “1934 Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. As
further detailed below, Plaintiffs alleged that certain of the Officer and Director Defendants made
-31252858_1
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materially misleading statements from February 7, 2011 through November 10, 2011, inclusive (the
“Class Period”), asserting that Molycorp’s principal products included heavy rare earth elements
(“HREEs”) and that those elements were contained at Molycorp’s Mountain Pass mine. Plaintiffs
further claimed Defendants violated §§11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”),
with respect to offerings of Molycorp’s common and preferred stock, by making misleading
statements concerning the Company’s HREE products and the amount of those elements that existed
at Mountain Pass. Plaintiffs alleged Defendants’ false and misleading statements and material
omissions caused the Company’s stock prices to be artificially inflated during the Class Period.
8.

The truth about HREEs at the Mountain Pass mine began to emerge between

November 8 and 10, 2011, when a Molycorp senior executive informed participants at a trade
conference that the Company had not found any quantities of HREEs in the Mountain Pass ore body
and Defendants made certain statements concerning the Company’s progress in identifying these
elements at Mountain Pass. As a result of these disclosures, Plaintiffs alleged that the price of
Molycorp’s securities dropped, significantly harming holders of such securities. A more detailed
description of the allegations is set forth in the operative complaint. Dkt. No. 153.
9.

Prior to deciding to settle the Litigation on the terms set forth in the Stipulation,

Plaintiffs and their counsel considered the significant risks associated with litigating the case through
summary judgment4 and trial.

For example, Defendants maintain that Plaintiffs would be

unsuccessful in proving falsity regarding the presence of terbium and dysprosium at the Mountain
4

The Underwriter Defendants did not join the previously-filed motion for summary judgment and
it is likely that they would have filed their own summary judgment motion following the close of
discovery. It is also likely that the Officer and Director Defendants would have filed a second
motion for summary judgment after discovery was completed.
-41252858_1
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Pass facility. In this regard, there has been a disagreement between the parties regarding whether
falsity exists if there are trace amounts of HREEs at the Mountain Pass facility, and whether any sale
of those elements – no matter how small – would make them “principal products.” Further, it is
likely that Defendants would argue that Plaintiffs could not establish loss causation and that the
decrease in stock price was due to factors other than the existence of HREEs. The risk was also
present that the Court or a jury might find – as Defendants had asserted throughout this Litigation –
that certain of their allegedly false and misleading statements were protected from liability by the
Safe Harbor provision of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “PSLRA”).
10.

Moreover, to meet their burden of proof at trial, Plaintiffs retained an expert to

present testimony concerning, inter alia, the complex issues of loss causation and damages.
Reliance on this testimony, however, would provide no guarantee that Plaintiffs would prevail on
either liability or damages, as Defendants undoubtedly have or would have retained their own
experts to counter Plaintiffs’ expert opinions. Each of the experts in this action would prepare
reports describing their opinions, setting the stage for a potential “battle of the experts.” Regardless
of the merits, a jury’s impression of any testifying expert is an inherently unknown factor that poses
a meaningful risk at trial.
11.

Finally, even if Plaintiffs prevailed on any or all of their claims at trial and were

awarded damages by a jury, a substantial risk would still exist that Defendants may file post-trial
motions and/or appeal any such verdict or award. The appeals process could take years, during
which time the Class would receive no compensation at all. Additionally, any appeal would create
the risk of reversal, in which case the Class would receive nothing even after prevailing at trial.

-51252858_1
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12.

After considering the circumstances and risks the parties would face were they to

litigate this case through summary judgment and trial, Lead Plaintiffs, through their counsel, on
behalf of the Class, and Defendants mutually concluded that settling the Litigation on the terms set
forth in the Stipulation was in the parties’ best interest.
13.

Furthermore, leading up to and continuing through the settlement process, Lead

Counsel prosecuted this case on behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class on a wholly contingent basis and
have advanced or incurred all litigation expenses. By doing so, Lead Counsel shouldered the
entirety of the substantial risk of an unfavorable result, yet have not received any compensation, to
date, for their diligent efforts in litigating this case on behalf of the Class.
14.

Lead Counsel’s fee application for 30% of the Settlement Amount is fair both to the

Class and Lead Counsel, and thus warrants the Court’s approval. This fee request is within the range
of fee percentages frequently awarded in this type of action. Furthermore, given the particular facts
of this case, Lead Counsel’s fee request is fully justified in light of the substantial benefits conferred
on the Class; the risks undertaken; the quality of representation by Lead Counsel; the nature and
extent of legal services performed by Lead Counsel; and the fact that an ultimate settlement of
$20,500,000.00 was not likely given the significant hurdles Plaintiffs faced in pursuing this
Litigation on behalf of the Class.
15.

Lead Counsel also seek payment of expenses in the amount of $249,327.83. These

expenses were reasonably and necessarily incurred as part of the prosecution of this Litigation over
the last five years on behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class and include, inter alia: (i) the fees for experts
and consultants whose services Lead Counsel relied upon during the investigation and prosecution of
this case; (ii) the costs associated with setting up and managing a database of documents that
-61252858_1
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included the initial documents produced to Lead Plaintiffs by Molycorp and Defendants, and which
involved photocopying, imaging and shipping expenses; (iii) the out-of-pocket expenses of
bankruptcy counsel; (iv) the cost of factual and legal research; and (v) fees for the two mediation
sessions with Judge Phillips. The efforts required by Lead Counsel to achieve the Settlement, that
are set forth in detail below, confirm these expenses were reasonable and necessary to obtain the
successful result now before the Court. The expenses requested by Lead Counsel are set forth in
greater detail in the declarations filed on behalf of Lead Counsel and the other Plaintiffs’ counsel and
submitted herewith.5
16.

Both the Settlement and Lead Counsel’s request for an award of attorneys’ fees and

expenses have been considered and approved by Lead Plaintiffs. And, because this is precisely the
type of result envisioned by Congress when it enacted the PSLRA, this fact is entitled to significant
weight by the Court in approving the Settlement and awarding fees to counsel. Moreover, to date,
there have been no objections to any aspect of the Settlement, Plan of Allocation or request for
attorneys’ fees and expenses.6

5

See Declaration of Trig Smith Filed on Behalf of Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP in
Support of Application for Award of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses (the “Smith Fee Declaration”);
Declaration of Matthew L. Mustokoff Filed on Behalf of Kessler Topaz Meltzer & Check, LLP in
Support of Application for Award of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses (the “Mustokoff Fee
Declaration”); Declaration of Jeffrey A. Berens Filed on Behalf of Berens Law LLC in Support of
Application for Award of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses (“Berens Fee Declaration”); and
Declaration of Michael S. Etkin Filed on Behalf of Lowenstein Sandler LLP in Support of
Application for Award of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses (the “Etkin Fee Declaration”). Collectively,
Robbins Geller, Kessler Topaz, Berens Law LLC and Lowenstein Sandler LLP are referred to herein
as “Plaintiffs’ Counsel.”

6

The deadline for submitting an objection in connection with the Settlement is May 22, 2017. If
any objections are received after the date of this submission, they will be addressed in Lead
Counsel’s reply submission to be filed with the Court on or before June 2, 2017.
-71252858_1
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17.

The following is a summary of the principal events that occurred during the

Litigation, the legal services provided by Lead Counsel on behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class, the
risks of continued litigation, and the factors bearing on the reasonableness of the Settlement, the Plan
of Allocation and Lead Counsel’s request for an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses, including
reimbursement of Plaintiffs’ costs and expenses in connection with their representation of the Class.
II.

LEAD PLAINTIFFS’ AND LEAD COUNSEL’S PROSECUTION OF THIS
CASE
A.

The Commencement of the Litigation and the Filing of the
Consolidated Complaint

18.

On February 3, 2012, Robbins Geller, on behalf of Angelo Albano, filed the first class

action complaint against Molycorp and certain of the Defendants in the United States District Court
for the District of Colorado. Dkt. No. 1.
19.

On April 3, 2012, pursuant to §21D of the 1934 Act, Plaintiffs Randall Duck

(“Duck”), Jerry W. Jewell, individually and as trustee of the Jerry W. Jewell Trust (“Jewell”), Philip
Marner (“Marner”) and Donald E. McAlpin (“McAlpin”) moved for appointment as Lead Plaintiffs,
their selection of Robbins Geller and Kessler Topaz as co-Lead Counsel, and Dyer Berens LLP as
liaison counsel. Dkt. No. 27.
20.

In all, five separate groups or individuals sought to be appointed as lead plaintiff. On

May 29, 2012, the Court found that Duck, Jewell, Marner and McAlpin had demonstrated they had
the largest financial interest in the case and were most capable of adequately representing the
interests of class members and, thus, appointed them as Lead Plaintiffs. Dkt. No. 49. The Court also
appointed Robbins Geller and Kessler Topaz as co-Lead Counsel and Dyer Berens LLP as liaison
counsel. Id.
-81252858_1
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21.

Following the Court’s May 29, 2012 Order, Lead Plaintiffs continued their extensive

investigation into their claims, which consisted of, inter alia: (1) identifying, locating and
interviewing former Molycorp employees and other knowledgeable percipient witnesses likely to
have information pertinent to the claims alleged; (2) a thorough review and analysis of Defendants’
public disclosures including: (i) transcripts of Molycorp’s quarterly conference calls held to discuss
the Company’s financial results and other presentations made by top Molycorp management at
investor conferences; (ii) the Company’s periodic filings with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) including Forms 10-K filed annually, and Forms 10-Q filed
quarterly; and (iii) records reflecting the Individual Defendants’ and other Company insiders’ trades
involving Molycorp shares in Form 4s filed with the SEC; and (3) an examination of industry and
Company stock price reaction to Defendants’ alleged misstatements and corrective disclosures,
including detailed reports discussing Molycorp and its public disclosures issued by industry analysts
on a regular basis.
22.

On July 31, 2012, based upon the findings of this extensive investigation, Lead

Counsel prepared and filed the Consolidated Class Action Complaint for Violations of Federal
Securities Laws (the “Consolidated Complaint”). Dkt. No. 60. The Consolidated Complaint alleged
violations of §§10(b), 20(a) and 20A of the 1934 Act on behalf of a class of persons who purchased
or acquired the publicly traded securities of Molycorp from February 11, 2011 through
November 10, 2011. The Consolidated Complaint also alleged violations of §§11, 12 and 15 of the
1933 Act on behalf of all persons who purchased or acquired Molycorp 5.50% Series A Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock (hereinafter “preferred stock”) pursuant to the Company’s

-91252858_1
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February 2011 initial public offering and all persons who purchased or acquired Molycorp common
stock pursuant to the Company’s June 2011 secondary offering.
23.

The Consolidated Complaint included two groups of defendants, the 1934 Act

Defendants and the 1933 Act Defendants. The 1934 Act Defendants included: Molycorp; President
and Chief Executive Officer Smith; KMSMITH LLC (“KMSMITH”); Treasurer and Chief Financial
Officer Allen; Executive Vice President and General Counsel Ashburn; Chairman of the Board
Bhappu; Dolan; RCF Management, LLC (“RCF”); Executive Vice President and Chief Technology
Officer Burba; Craig M. Cogut (“Cogut”); Pegasus Capital Advisors, L.P. (“Pegasus”); Kristoff; T-II
Holdings, LLC (“T-II Holdings”); Henry; and Thompson. The 1933 Act Defendants included:
Molycorp; Smith; Allen; Ashburn; Ball; Bhappu; Cogut; Dolan; Kristoff; Machiels; Henry;
Thompson; Morgan Stanley; J.P. Morgan; Knight; Dahlman; Stifel; BNP; CIBC; Piper Jaffray; and
RBS.
24.

On October 4, 2012, Lead Counsel, after conferring with Defendants’ counsel, filed a

notice of voluntary dismissal of defendant KMSMITH. Dkt. No. 105.
B.

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the Consolidated Complaint

25.

On October 22, 2012, Defendants moved to dismiss the Consolidated Complaint.

Dkt. Nos. 109, 110. Defendants, inter alia, argued that the Consolidated Complaint failed to state a
§10(b) claim because: (a) it failed to meet the strict pleading standards; (b) it failed to plead a
fraudulent statement; (c) most of the alleged misrepresentations were forward-looking statements
protected by the PSLRA, 15 U.S.C. §78u-4, et seq.; (d) certain of the Defendants did not make
statements alleged to be misrepresentations; (e) the pleading did not raise a strong inference of
scienter; and (f) the allegations regarding loss causation were not adequate. Defendants further
- 10 1252858_1
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argued that the Consolidated Complaint failed to state a §20A claim or a 1933 Act claim, and that
the secondary liability claims under §15 of the 1933 Act and §20(a) of the 1934 Act also should be
dismissed.
26.

Concurrent with the filing of the motion to dismiss, Defendants filed a motion

requesting the Court take judicial notice of certain documents. Dkt. No. 111. Lead Plaintiffs filed
their response on November 13, 2012 identifying reasons why certain of the documents listed in
Defendants’ request for judicial notice were not the proper subject of such a request. Dkt. No. 115.
On November 19, 2012, after further meeting and conferring concerning these matters, Lead
Plaintiffs and Defendants filed a stipulation resolving certain issues with respect to Defendants’
request for judicial notice. Dkt. No. 116.
27.

On December 21, 2012, Lead Plaintiffs filed their opposition to Defendants’ motion

to dismiss. Dkt. No. 121. In the opposition Lead Plaintiffs rebutted Defendants’ arguments
regarding falsity, scienter and loss causation, arguing that the Consolidated Complaint, inter alia,
sufficiently alleged: (i) the falsity of Defendants’ statements regarding HREEs; (ii) facts raising a
strong inference of scienter; (iii) loss causation; (iv) §20A insider trading claims; (v) violations of
the 1933 Act; and (vi) secondary liability under the 1933 Act and the 1934 Act. Lead Counsel spent
significant time and resources performing the legal and factual research necessary to address
Defendants’ various arguments and draft an effective opposition to demonstrate that the
Consolidated Complaint satisfied the strict pleading burdens imposed by the PSLRA.
28.

Defendants filed their reply in support of their motion to dismiss the Consolidated

Complaint on February 4, 2013. Dkt. No. 123.

- 11 1252858_1

Case 1:12-cv-00292-RM-KMT Document 245 Filed 05/05/17 USDC Colorado Page 14 of 37

29.

On May 1, 2013, Lead Plaintiffs received notice from the Court that the case had been

reassigned to the Honorable Raymond P. Moore. Dkt. No. 125.
30.

On May 29, 2013, at the request of this Court, the parties filed a Joint Status Report

that provided the nature of the dispute and the status of the proceedings. Dkt. No. 128.
31.

On July 3, 2013, certain of the Defendants submitted a notice of supplemental

authority. Dkt. No. 129. This notice stated that a formal investigation initiated against Molycorp by
the SEC had concluded and that the SEC did not recommend any enforcement action. Lead
Plaintiffs responded to the notice on July 8, 2013. Dkt. No. 130.
32.

By Order dated March 31, 2015, the Court granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss

without prejudice. Dkt. No. 150. The Court also granted in part and denied in part Defendants’
request for judicial notice. Dkt. No. 149. Accordingly, Lead Counsel’s aggressive investigation into
the case continued. Lead Counsel also studied the Court’s March 31, 2015 Order with great care and
immediately began the process of drafting and finalizing an amended pleading to address the specific
matters raised by the Court in its opinion.
C.

The First Amended Complaint, First Mediation Session, and
Defendants’ Second Motion to Dismiss

33.

On May 29, 2015, Plaintiffs filed the operative complaint – the First Amended

Consolidated Class Action Complaint for Violations of the Federal Securities Laws (the “First
Amended Complaint”). Dkt. No. 153. The First Amended Complaint alleges violations of §§10(b)
and 20(a) of the 1934 Act on behalf of all persons who purchased or acquired Molycorp’s publicly
traded securities – i.e., the Company’s common stock and/or preferred stock – from February 7,
2011 through November 10, 2011. The First Amended Complaint also alleges violations of §§11, 12
and 15 of the 1933 Act on behalf of all persons who purchased or acquired Molycorp common stock
- 12 1252858_1
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and/or preferred stock pursuant to the Company’s February 2011 offering and all persons who
purchased or acquired Molycorp common stock traceable and/or pursuant to the Company’s
June 2011 offering. The First Amended Complaint contains allegations similar to those in the
Consolidated Complaint but includes additional, detailed allegations concerning falsity and scienter
to address the pleading deficiencies identified by the Court’s March 31, 2015 Order.
34.

Shortly after the filing of the First Amended Complaint, on June 9, 2015, the parties

attended the first of two all-day mediations before Judge Phillips, a former United States District
Judge for the Western District of Oklahoma, and a highly respected mediator of complex civil cases
and class actions. Prior to the June 9, 2015 mediation, the parties exchanged their opening mediation
statements and submitted them to Judge Phillips. Lead Plaintiffs submitted a comprehensive
mediation statement setting forth Lead Plaintiffs’ view of the case, including with regard to how the
allegations of falsity, scienter, and loss causation were amended in the First Amended Complaint to
address the Court’s March 31, 2015 Order. At the mediation session, Lead Counsel presented their
position as to why the First Amended Complaint would withstand a motion to dismiss and why the
facts alleged in the First Amended Complaint support Plaintiffs’ demand for resolving the claims.
While the parties negotiated the potential resolution of the Litigation diligently and in good faith at
the June 9, 2015 mediation session, they were too far apart in their respective positions and unable to
reach an agreement at that time.
35.

On June 24, 2015, Defendants moved to dismiss the First Amended Complaint. Dkt.

No. 160. Defendants argued that it did not raise any new allegations and, thus, failed to plead
sufficiently any fraudulent statement, failed to raise a strong inference of scienter and failed to plead

- 13 1252858_1
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loss causation. Defendants further argued that certain of them could not be liable since they made no
statements.
36.

On June 25, 2015, Molycorp declared Chapter 11 Bankruptcy with the United States

Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. Dkt. No. 161. On the same day, Lead Plaintiffs
voluntarily dismissed Molycorp from this Litigation. Dkt. No. 162. Lead Counsel then retained
Lowenstein Sandler LLP (“Lowenstein”) as bankruptcy counsel to represent Lead Plaintiffs’
interests in Molycorp’s bankruptcy proceedings.
37.

The Molycorp bankruptcy proceedings brought with it significant challenges that

impacted this Litigation, including, but not limited to, issues related to the release of certain
Defendants’ liability here and the Company’s possession, custody or control of vast amounts of
potentially relevant evidence. Details of the work done by the Lowenstein attorneys is contained in
the Etkin Fee Declaration, submitted herewith.
38.

Plaintiffs submitted their opposition to Defendants’ motion to dismiss the First

Amended Complaint on July 24, 2015. Dkt. No. 164. In that opposition, Plaintiffs identified the
following allegedly false statements of fact that were not forward-looking and actionable under the
1933 Act and 1934 Act: (i) that Molycorp’s “principal products” included the HREEs dysprosium
and terbium; and (ii) that those HREEs were “contained . . . in [its] deposit at Mountain Pass.” Id. at
1-2. Plaintiffs asserted, based on detailed allegations of fact regarding the status of HREEs at
Mountain Pass, that those statements were false when made because dysprosium and terbium were
not Molycorp’s principal products and the Company’s Mountain Pass ore body contained virtually
no dysprosium or terbium. Id. Defendants filed their reply on November 13, 2015, arguing

- 14 1252858_1
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vigorously that the allegedly false statements identified by Plaintiffs were not false and, therefore,
not actionable. Dkt. No. 167.
39.

The Court issued its Order on January 20, 2016, denying in part, and granting in part,

Defendants’ motion to dismiss. Dkt. No. 169 [and as amended at Dkt. No. 172]. In issuing its
Order, the Court dismissed the §§10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claims against the following defendants:
Cogut, Pegasus, T-II Holdings, and RCF. The Order also dismissed the §20(a) claim against
defendant Cogut. However, the Court found that all of Plaintiffs’ claims against the remaining
Defendants – Ball, Bhappu, Dolan, Kristoff, Machiels, Henry, Thompson, Smith, Allen, Ashburn,
Burba, J.P. Morgan, Morgan Stanley, Knight, Dahlman, Stifel, BNP, CIBC, Piper Jaffray, and RBS
– were adequately pled pursuant to Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA and that the case could proceed to
discovery against them. Id.
D.

Defendants Answer the First Amended Complaint

40.

On March 9, 2016, the Individual Defendants filed their answer to the First Amended

Complaint. Dkt. No. 187. The Individual Defendants’ answer, which spanned over 50 pages, denied
each substantive allegation that Plaintiffs claimed in the First Amended Complaint demonstrating
that the Individual Defendants violated the federal securities laws. The answer also set forth 31
numbered paragraphs asserting various affirmative defenses. Lead Counsel spent significant time
reviewing and analyzing this pleading.
41.

That same day, March 9, 2016, the Underwriter Defendants filed their answer to the

First Amended Complaint. Dkt. No. 188. The Underwriter Defendants’ answer, which spanned
over 50 pages, similarly denied each substantive allegation in the First Amended Complaint
demonstrating that the Underwriter Defendants violated the federal securities laws. The Underwriter
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Defendants’ answer also set forth 38 separate affirmative defenses. Lead Counsel spent significant
time reviewing and analyzing this pleading as well.
E.

Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment and Attempts to Limit
Discovery

42.

On March 17, 2016, shortly after the opening of discovery, the Individual Defendants

filed a motion for summary judgment to dismiss all of Plaintiffs’ claims. Dkt. No. 193. In addition
to numerous supporting documents, the motion included a declaration from Paul Parasugo, a thencurrent employee of Molycorp Minerals LLC (a subsidiary of Molycorp), as well as a declaration
from Geoffrey Bedford, Molycorp’s President and Chief Executive Officer at the time. The motion
was voluminous, and with exhibits, exceeded 400 pages in length.
43.

The Individual Defendants argued, inter alia, that: (1) Plaintiffs cannot prove that

Defendants made false statements regarding the presence of HREEs at the Mountain Pass facility,
(2) Plaintiffs’ theory based on risk factor language concerning Molycorp’s “principal products”
challenges forward-looking statements, and (3) Plaintiffs’ theory based on language concerning
Molycorp’s “principal products” relies on statements that are too vague to be actionable. Further,
the Individual Defendants requested that the Court limit the discovery available to Plaintiffs to only
such evidence that was necessary to oppose the motion – specifically documents and testimony
(i) necessary to confirm or disprove the presence of HREEs at Mountain Pass and (ii) necessary to
confirm the production of HREEs from the ore body at Mountain Pass.
44.

Plaintiffs filed their response to the motion for summary judgement on April 11,

2016, accompanied by a declaration of Trig R. Smith pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(d). Dkt. Nos.
198, 199. Plaintiffs argued that the Individual Defendants’ summary judgment motion was clearly
premature, having been filed almost immediately after discovery was opened and prior to the
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production of any documents by Defendants or Molycorp, which was in bankruptcy proceedings at
the time. Plaintiffs also argued that the Individual Defendants’ attempt to limit discovery was
improper and should be denied. Finally, Plaintiffs asserted that, absent any discovery following the
decision regarding the motion to dismiss, the Individual Defendants were essentially asking the
Court to reconsider its decision regarding Defendants’ motion to dismiss concerning the allegedly
misleading “principle products” statements. Plaintiffs also filed their response to the statement of
undisputed facts submitted by the Individual Defendants in support of their motion. Dkt. No. 200.
45.

The Individual Defendants filed their reply in further support of their motion on

April 28, 2016. Dkt. No. 207. They also filed a response to Plaintiffs’ submission addressing the
statement of undisputed facts. Dkt. No. 208.
46.

Shortly after filing their reply, the Individual Defendants filed a motion titled

“Molycorp Directors’ and Officers’ Motion for Protective Order to Limit the Scope of Discovery to
the Two Disputed Factual Issues Raised by Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint, and for an Order
Directing Plaintiffs to File Their Substantive Response to the Pending Summary Judgment Motion
by July 18, 2016.” Dkt. No. 215.
47.

During this time, Lead Counsel continued their work to obtain documents from

Defendants and Molycorp. After Defendants argued that the deposition of Molycorp-related
witnesses Paul Parasugo and Geoffrey Bedford should occur prior to Molycorp’s production of any
documents, Plaintiffs moved for a protective order temporarily staying those depositions pending the
production of relevant evidence. Dkt. No. 217. Defendants filed their opposition to Plaintiffs’
motion on May 23, 2016. Dkt. No. 220.
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48.

On May 25, 2016, the Court issued Orders to resolve several of the parties’ disputes.

First, the Court denied the Individual Defendants’ motion for summary judgment and granted
Plaintiffs sufficient time to conduct reasonably necessary discovery. Dkt. No. 221. In denying the
motion, the Court found “there is more than sufficient evidence that is potentially discoverable in
this case to rebut the Individual Defendants’ assertion of no genuine issue of material fact, and thus,
justify discovery.” Id. at 5. Second, the Court denied the Individual Defendants’ motion for a
protective order. Id. at 20. The Court also denied Plaintiffs’ motion for a protective order
temporarily staying the depositions of Molycorp-related witnesses Messrs. Parasugo and Bedford
pending the production of relevant evidence. Id. at 21.
F.

Plaintiffs’ Discovery Efforts

49.

Plaintiffs conducted significant discovery of parties and non-parties in this Litigation,

as well as responded to discovery propounded by Defendants.
50.

In connection with discovery, the parties negotiated the terms of and filed their Joint

Motion for Entry of Stipulation Protective Order in order to protect confidential information that
may be produced in discovery.

This Protective Order was approved by Magistrate Judge

Kathleen M. Tafoya on March 14, 2016. Dkt. No. 192.
1.
51.

Requests for the Production of Documents

Plaintiffs served their first set of requests for the production of documents on

Defendants on February 16, 2016.
52.

On March 17, 2016, the Underwriter Defendants responded to Plaintiffs’ discovery

requests by serving a number of objections and limiting the proposed production of documents
subject to the objections and any limitations placed on discovery pursuant to the order on the
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Individual Defendants’ summary judgment motion. Given those self-imposed limitations, the
Underwriter Defendants did not produce any documents with their response.
53.

The Individual Defendants also responded to Plaintiffs’ discovery requests on

March 17, 2016. In addition to raising numerous objections, the Individual Defendants responded to
all but one of the requests by refusing to incur the cost and burden of searching for documents in
their possession, custody, or control that might be responsive to the requests. As to the remaining
request, the Individual Defendants refused to produce documents unless the Court denied the thenpending motion for summary judgment, and even if the motion was denied, the Individual
Defendants stated that they would only produce non-privileged documents responsive to a subset of
Plaintiffs’ requests.
54.

In response to communications between the parties regarding vast amounts of

electronically stored information (“ESI”) in the possession, custody or control of the bankrupt
corporate defendant, Molycorp, counsel for the Individual Defendants contacted Lead Counsel via a
letter dated May 9, 2016. In that letter, they identified possible ESI custodians and possible ESI
search terms, but declined to participate in any cost-sharing of ESI-discovery-related costs imposed
on Molycorp.
55.

On May 31, 2016, shortly after the Court denied their motion for summary

judgement, the Individual Defendants produced over 8,000 pages of documents.
2.
56.

Interrogatories

On May 10, 2016, the Individual Defendants served their first set of interrogatories on

Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs responded immediately, providing the requested information on May 11, 2016.
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57.

On May 11, 2016, Lead Plaintiffs also served their first set of interrogatories on

Defendants, consisting of a single interrogatory. The Individual Defendants responded on June 13,
2016, by asserting a number of objections, as well as producing several responsive documents.
3.

Third Party Discovery
a.

58.

Molycorp

On February 18, 2016, Plaintiffs served a document subpoena on Molycorp. On

February 23, 2016, counsel for Molycorp contacted Lead Counsel to convey Molycorp’s intent to
discard approximately 150 boxes of paper files concerning its business operations. Lead Counsel
responded to Molycorp’s counsel and expressed their concern regarding the potential loss and
spoliation of relevant evidence.
59.

Between February and March 2016, Lead Counsel reached out repeatedly to

Molycorp to try to schedule a meet and confer to discuss discovery issues. On March 7, 2016, Lead
Counsel sent a letter to Molycorp’s counsel outlining the steps that had been taken to set up the meet
and confer, requesting dates and times that Molycorp’s counsel was available, and seeking an
unambiguous response as to whether Molycorp would consent to the jurisdiction of the District of
Colorado should any discovery disputes arise.
60.

On March 10, 2016, Molycorp provided its response to the subpoena, which was

replete with objections. Molycorp’s March 10, 2016 response was not accompanied by any
documents, though Molycorp did state it was willing to meet and confer regarding the matter.
61.

A meet and confer session was held on March 15, 2016, in which Molycorp’s

production of responsive documents was discussed, including the fact that there were voluminous
amounts of hard-copy documents located in various worldwide locations.
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62.

Thereafter, Lead Counsel participated in a March 31, 2016 conference call with

Molycorp’s counsel and the ESI vendor approved by Molycorp’s D&O insurance carriers. During
that call, Lead Counsel learned that the majority of Molycorp’s electronically-stored data had not
been preserved on backup tapes. As such, as of the end of March 2016, vast amounts of potentially
relevant ESI and hardcopy documents in the possession, custody or control of Molycorp still had not
been produced. Lead Counsel also learned that the 23 terabytes of ESI that existed on tapes would
require another two to three months to restore before it was then filtered for responsiveness. In order
to expedite Molycorp’s processing of this ESI and, ultimately, its production, Plaintiffs agreed to
incur all costs associated with the ESI restoration process.
63.

On April 25, 2016, Molycorp produced a flash drive to Lead Counsel that contained

raw data from Molycorp’s Laboratory Information Management System (“LIMS”). Given the nature
of the data produced, Lead Counsel retained an outside consultant who had expertise in LIMS
technology in order to get some basic understanding of the data that was provided, as well as
determine the limitations of this data and request further disclosures from Molycorp regarding its
LIMS database and associated hardware and software.
64.

Lead Counsel participated in another meet and confer on May 2, 2016 with counsel

for Molycorp. The topics that were discussed included the ESI search terms for the culling of
Molycorp’s ESI, as well as the identification of custodians to be used for the culling of Molycorp’s
ESI.
65.

On May 3, 2016, Molycorp produced a flash drive containing Molycorp’s

organization charts from 2011.
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b.
66.

SRK Consulting

On July 7, 2016, Plaintiffs served a document subpoena on SRK Consulting (U.S.),

Inc. (“SRK Consulting”), an independent, international consulting practice providing focused advice
and solutions to the earth and water resource industries who had authored certain reports relied on by
Defendants. Following the parties’ tentative agreement to settle, Lead Counsel contacted SRK
Consulting to withdraw the subpoena.
c.
67.

Securities and Exchange Commission

After this action was initiated, in August 2012, Molycorp disclosed that the SEC had

requested information from Molycorp in connection with a formal order of investigation regarding
the accuracy of certain of Molycorp’s public disclosures. Dkt. No. 122-3.
68.

On July 3, 2013, Molycorp filed a notice announcing that the SEC’s investigation was

completed and that the SEC did not intend to recommend enforcement action against Molycorp,
asserting that this news was relevant to the issue of scienter and Defendants’ then-pending motion to
dismiss. Dkt. No. 129. Plaintiffs filed a response to Molycorp’s notice on July 8, 2013. Dkt. No.
130.
69.

On February 12, 2015, Lead Counsel sought to obtain relevant documents from the

SEC pursuant to a Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) request. After numerous communications
between Lead Counsel and the SEC, the SEC formally responded to the FOIA request by refusing to
provide any responsive information. On April 30, 2015, Lead Counsel appealed the SEC’s FOIA
response.
70.

Thereafter, on February 16, 2016, once discovery commenced in this Litigation, Lead

Counsel served a subpoena on the SEC seeking, inter alia, copies of all documents Molycorp had
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produced to the SEC in connection with its formal inquiry. The SEC failed to respond or make
objections by March 11, 2016. After the SEC continued to fail to produce responsive documents,
despite numerous communications from Lead Counsel, Lead Counsel filed a motion to compel
compliance with the subpoena in the District Court for the District of Columbia.
71.

On April 12, 2016, Lead Counsel moved to have their motion to compel transferred to

this Court. The SEC filed an opposition to the motion to transfer on April 14, 2016. On April 19,
2016, after Lead Counsel filed a response in support of their motion to transfer, the United States
District Court for the District of Columbia transferred the matter to this Court.
72.

The SEC filed its opposition to the motion to compel with this Court on April 25,

2016. Dkt. No. 202. The next day, April 26, 2016, Plaintiffs moved this Court for a hearing on their
motion to compel. Dkt. No. 203. Plaintiffs filed their reply in support of the motion to compel on
May 2, 2016. Dkt. No. 210. The Court addressed Plaintiffs’ motion to compel in its Order denying
the Individual Defendants’ motion for summary judgment, as discussed supra.
4.
73.

Depositions

On June 17 and 18, 2016, Defendants noticed the depositions of Paul Parasugo and

Susan Pohl, respectively. Lead Counsel were in the process of preparing to take these depositions
when the parties reached a tentative agreement to settle this Litigation. Both Mr. Parasugo and
Ms. Pohl are former employees of Molycorp with knowledge of Mountain Pass mining operations
during the Class Period.
G.

The Second Mediation Session

74.

On June 29, 2016, following months of informal communications with Judge Phillips

and the Court’s denial of the Individual Defendants’ summary judgment motion, the parties
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participated in a second formal mediation session before Judge Phillips. During the June 2016
mediation, counsel for Plaintiffs and Defendants conducted further and extensive arm’s-length
negotiations with respect to a potential compromise and settlement of the Litigation. Following the
mediation session, the parties continued their discussions through Judge Phillips and ultimately
reached an agreement to settle the Litigation for a total cash payment of $20,500,000, pursuant to
Judge Phillips’ “double-blind” mediator proposal. On July 11, 2016, the parties entered into a term
sheet which set forth the principal terms of the parties’ agreement to settle. On July 27, 2016, the
parties informed the Court that they had reached an agreement-in-principle to settle the case. Dkt.
No. 227.
75.

Lead Counsel are, and have been for several years, actively engaged in complex civil

litigation, particularly the litigation of securities class actions. Lead Counsel have demonstrated in
numerous cases, litigated in courts nationwide, their commitment to the diligent investigation and
prosecution of claims by shareholders that publicly traded companies and their top management
violated the federal securities laws. This case is no exception. Lead Counsel’s experience and
reputation as attorneys who aggressively litigate a meritorious case through trial and any subsequent
appeals process put Plaintiffs in as strong a position as possible throughout settlement negotiations
with Defendants. And the strength and quality of representation provided by Lead Counsel
ultimately led to the Settlement that was approved by Plaintiffs on behalf of the Class.
76.

The Settlement is the result of hard-fought litigation and extensive arm’s-length

negotiations with the substantial assistance of Judge Phillips. Indeed, rather than accept an amount
they deemed inadequate, Plaintiffs and their counsel chose to continue litigating the action following
the initial June 9, 2015 mediation. Due to Lead Counsel’s continued efforts in this case, the parties
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ultimately reached a settlement that will provide a meaningful recovery for the Class. Lead
Plaintiffs and their counsel believe that the compromise embodied by the Stipulation represents a
highly favorable resolution of a complex action fraught with risk and is in the best interest of the
Class. See Declarations of Philip Marner, Jerry W. Jewell, the Iron Workers Mid-South Pension
Fund, Donald E. McAlpin, and Randall Duck, submitted herewith.
77.

Following the parties’ acceptance of Judge Phillip’s mediator’s proposal, they

engaged in extensive negotiations concerning the terms of the Stipulation. During this time, Lead
Counsel and counsel for the Defendants also conferred at length concerning the appropriate details to
include in the Notice, Plan of Allocation, Proof of Claim, and proposed orders. This process
included the exchange of multiple drafts of the parties’ respective, proposed revisions of the
Stipulation, ultimately dated October 27, 2016, as well as the attached exhibits.
78.

On February 15, 2017, Magistrate Judge Tafoya issued a recommendation that the

Motion for Preliminary Approval be granted. Dkt. No. 236. Magistrate Judge Tafoya found no
obvious deficiencies with the Settlement and observed:
[T]his protracted litigation was very expensive and about to get even more expensive
once expert discovery got underway. Dispositive motions practice was not
concluded, even though the case has already traversed through two motions to
dismiss and a motion for summary judgment. The settlement amount is substantial
and with no reversion.
Id. at 8. In a subsequent order, the Court found no clear error with Magistrate Judge Tafoya’s
analysis and recommendation and it adopted Magistrate Judge Tafoya’s recommendation. Id. On
March 6, 2017, the Court entered its Order Preliminarily Approving Settlement, Approving Notice to
the Class, and Scheduling a Final Approval Hearing (“Preliminary Approval Order”). Dkt. No. 239.
As is detailed herein, Lead Counsel have followed the mandates of the Preliminary Approval Order
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with respect to, inter alia, providing notice to the Class and preparing materials for the Court to
consider in determining final approval of the Settlement.
III.

THE SETTLEMENT IS A FAVORABLE RESULT FOR THE CLASS IN
LIGHT OF THE CONTINUING RISKS OF LITIGATION
79.

Lead Counsel believe that Plaintiffs would have prevailed on the merits at trial.

Defendants were just as adamant that Plaintiffs would not have. There was a very real risk that
Plaintiffs would not have convinced a jury that Defendants acted with scienter (with respect to the
1934 Act claims) or that the alleged misrepresentations and omissions were not materially false and
misleading when made (with respect to all of Plaintiffs’ claims).
80.

Having considered the foregoing, and evaluated Defendants’ anticipated defenses, it

is the informed judgment of Lead Counsel, based on all proceedings to date and their extensive
experience in litigating class actions under the federal securities laws, that the proposed Settlement
of this matter before the Court is fair, reasonable and adequate, and in the best interest of the Class.
81.

The Settlement agreed to by the parties of $20,500,000 in cash (plus interest) is a

good result that provides an immediate and certain benefit to the Class. The Settlement Amount
reflects a recovery of approximately 22% of the total estimated recoverable damages of
$93.3 million. Given the risks of continued litigation, the size of the recovery supports approval. In
fact, the recent report published by Cornerstone Research, attached as Exhibit A, finds that in cases
like this one, the median securities class action settlement recovers approximately 6.0% of the
estimated damages. Ex. A at 8, Fig. 7. The recovery here exceeds that by over three times.
82.

This case posed significant risks to recovery concerning both Defendants’ liability

and the damages suffered by the Class. Plaintiffs’ ability to achieve a successful result was by no
means assured, as both sides claimed the evidence supported their positions. Any future recovery for
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the Class, had the Settlement not been reached, would necessarily have depended on Plaintiffs’
ability to win challenging arguments on each element of their claims. Indeed, Defendants have
adamantly denied liability – arguing strenuously that the allegedly false statements were actually true
or non-actionable forward-looking statements – and have been represented by some of the most
capable defense counsel in this District and across the United States.
83.

And were this Settlement not achieved at this time and on the terms set forth in the

Stipulation, Plaintiffs potentially faced additional years of risky litigation against Defendants, with
ultimate success at trial being far from certain. In addition, given that discovery was in the early
stages when this Settlement was reached, further litigation would be extremely costly. Here, for
example, the potential for expensive fact and expert discovery was heightened as the vast majority of
relevant documents and information was within the possession, custody or control of the non-party,
corporate defendant Molycorp.
IV.

THE PLAN OF ALLOCATION
84.

The Net Settlement Fund will be distributed to Class Members who, in accordance

with the terms of the Stipulation, are entitled to a distribution and who submit a valid and timely
Proof of Claim. The Plan of Allocation set forth in the Notice sets forth the proposed plan for
allocating the Net Settlement Fund among eligible Class Members. The Plan of Allocation provides
that a Class Member will be eligible to participate in the distribution of the Net Settlement Fund only
if the Class Member has an overall net loss on all of his, her, or its transactions in Molycorp
securities during the Class Period.
85.

For purposes of determining the amount an Authorized Claimant may recover under

the Plan of Allocation, Lead Counsel conferred with their economics and damages experts, and the
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proposed Plan of Allocation reflects an assessment of the damages that potentially could have been
recovered by Class Members had Plaintiffs prevailed at trial. The proposed Plan of Allocation is
premised on the out-of-pocket measure of damages and is designed to measure the difference
between the prices Class Members paid for Molycorp common and preferred stock during the Class
Period and the prices had the allegedly omitted information regarding HREEs at Mountain Pass been
disclosed.
86.

To date, there have been no objections to the Plan of Allocation. Lead Counsel

believe that the Plan of Allocation set forth in the Notice is fair and reasonable and should be
approved.
V.

LEAD COUNSEL’S APPLICATION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEYS’
FEES AND EXPENSES IS REASONABLE
A.

The Requested Fee of 30% of the Settlement Amount Is Fair and
Reasonable

87.

In addition to seeking final approval of the Settlement and Plan of Allocation, Lead

Counsel are also applying to the Court for an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses. As set forth in
the accompanying Motion for an Award of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses and Memorandum of
Points and Authorities in Support Thereof (“Memorandum”), Lead Counsel, on behalf of Plaintiffs’
Counsel, are seeking attorneys’ fees of 30% of the Settlement Amount (i.e., $6,150,000) and
expenses of $249,327.83, and interest on both amounts at the same rate as earned on the Settlement
Amount.
88.

The prosecution of the Litigation required Plaintiffs’ Counsel and their

paraprofessionals to perform over 7,000 hours of work resulting in a total lodestar of $4,257,935.50

- 28 1252858_1

Case 1:12-cv-00292-RM-KMT Document 245 Filed 05/05/17 USDC Colorado Page 31 of 37

and to incur $249,327.83 in expenses and charges.7 Plaintiffs’ Counsel’s time and expenses are
detailed in the Smith Fee Declaration; the Mustokoff Fee Declaration; the Berens Fee Declaration
and the Etkin Fee Declaration submitted herewith.
89.

For their efforts on behalf of the Class, Lead Counsel are applying for compensation

from the Settlement Amount on a percentage basis. The percentage method is the appropriate
method of fee recovery because, among other things, it aligns the lawyers’ interest in being paid a
fair fee with the interest of the class in achieving the maximum recovery in the shortest amount of
time required under the circumstances, is supported by public policy and has been recognized as
appropriate for cases of this nature. Importantly, the fee and expense request has been approved by
Lead Plaintiffs, who were involved throughout the Litigation, and who have a significant stake in
this case.
90.

Lead Counsel request a fee of 30% of the Settlement Amount. As set forth in the

Memorandum, numerous courts have applied the percentage-of-recovery method in awarding fees in
“common fund” cases. The percentage sought is merited in this case in light of the effort required
and the results obtained.
91.

As discussed in greater detail above, this case had significant risks concerning

liability such that Plaintiffs’ success was by no means assured. Defendants disputed whether
Plaintiffs could establish liability and would no doubt contend, as the case proceeded through
discovery and on to expert discovery and trial, that even if liability existed, the amount of damages
was substantially lower than Plaintiffs alleged, or even that there were no damages. Were this
7

Plaintiffs’ Counsel’s combined lodestar does not include $25,000 that was paid to the Lowenstein
Sandler firm from the litigation expense fund maintained by Robbins Geller as a retainer and which is
included in the Smith Fee Declaration (at 11) as a litigation expense.
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Settlement not achieved, and even if Plaintiffs prevailed at trial, Plaintiffs faced potentially years of
costly and risky appeals against Defendants, with ultimate success being far from certain. It is also
possible that a jury could have found no liability or no damages. Lead Counsel are entitled to 30%
of the Settlement Amount because of the risk factors involved in this case.
92.

As more fully set forth in the Memorandum, Lead Counsel believe that the fee request

is reasonable given the favorable recovery obtained for the benefit of the Class, the risks of
continued litigation, the contingent nature of counsel’s representation, the complexity of the legal
and factual questions at issue and the extensive efforts of counsel, awards in similar cases and Lead
Plaintiffs’ approval of the requested fee.
93.

The expertise and experience of Lead Counsel is also an important consideration in

determining the quality of the legal services provided to the Class. Lead Counsel have consistently
demonstrated a willingness and ability to prosecute complex cases such as this. Lead Counsel are
well-known among their peers and by courts across the country as some of the most experienced and
skilled practitioners in the field of securities litigation. Likewise, Defendants are represented by
very experienced counsel, which also possess substantial experience, expertise and resources in the
defense of complex securities litigation.
B.

The Requested Attorneys’ Fees Are Fair and Reasonable Considering
the High-Risk, Contingent Nature of the Representation

94.

The Litigation was undertaken by Lead Counsel on a wholly-contingent basis. From

the outset, Lead Counsel understood that they were embarking on a complex, expensive, and lengthy
litigation with no guarantee of ever being compensated for the significant investment of time and
expense the case would require. In undertaking that responsibility, Lead Counsel were obligated to
assure that sufficient attorney and paraprofessional resources were dedicated to the prosecution of
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the Litigation and that funds were available to compensate staff and to pay for the considerable costs
that a case such as this entails. Lead Counsel have received no compensation for their services
during the course of the Litigation and have incurred very significant expenses in litigating for the
benefit of the Class. Any fee or expense award to Lead Counsel has always been completely
contingent on the result achieved.
95.

Because of the contingent nature of the Litigation, Lead Counsel have advanced the

expense of the Litigation over the past five years, all the while facing the risk of no recovery. It is
only because Defendants and their counsel know that the leading members of the plaintiffs’ bar are
prepared to, and will, seek resolution on the merits and go to trial, and pursue any appeals if
necessary, that meaningful settlements like this can occur.
96.

Because the fee to be awarded in this matter is entirely contingent, the only certainty

from the outset was that there would be no fee without a successful result, and that such a result
would be realized only after a lengthy and difficult effort. Under the circumstances, Lead Counsel
respectfully submit that they are entitled to the award of a reasonable percentage fee based on the
benefit conferred and the common fund obtained. Under all of the circumstances present here, Lead
Counsel respectfully submit that a 30% fee plus $249,327.83 in expenses, is fair and reasonable.
97.

Also, as allowed under the PSLRA, Lead Plaintiffs Randall Duck and Donald E.

McAlpin seek reimbursement for their time and expenses in the amounts of $8,027.44 and
$1,664.25, respectively. See Declaration of Randall Duck, ¶5; Declaration of Donald E. McAlpin,
¶4. Likewise, representative plaintiff Iron Workers Mid-South Pension Fund seeks reimbursement
for its time and expenses in the amount of $560.00. See Declaration of the Iron Workers Mid-South
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Pension Fund, ¶3. Lead Plaintiffs and the representative plaintiffs’ investment of time, effort and
expenses greatly contributed to the successful result of this Litigation.
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the
foregoing is true and correct. Executed this 5th day of May, 2017, at San Diego, California.
s/Trig R. Smith
TRIG R. SMITH

s/Matthew L. Mustokoff
MATTHEW L. MUSTOKOFF
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that on May 5, 2017, I authorized the electronic filing of the foregoing with
the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system which will send notification of such filing to the
e-mail addresses denoted on the attached Electronic Mail Notice List, and I hereby certify that I
caused to be mailed the foregoing document or paper via the United States Postal Service to the nonCM/ECF participants indicated on the attached Manual Notice List.
I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the
foregoing is true and correct. Executed on May 5, 2017.
s/ Trig R. Smith
TRIG R. SMITH

ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN
& DOWD LLP
655 West Broadway, Suite 1900
San Diego, CA 92101-8498
Telephone: 619/231-1058
619/231-7423 (fax)
E-mail: trigs@rgrdlaw.com
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Highlights
ͻ

The number of securities class action settlements
approved in 2016 grew to 85—the highest level since
2010. (page 3)

ͻ

ͻ

ͻ

Total settlement dollars approved by courts in 2016
was nearly $6 billion, almost double the total in 2015
and the second highest in the past 10 years. (page 3)

Median settlements as a percentage of “estimated
damages” in 2016 increased 24 percent from the 2011–
2015 median and were higher than any annual
percentage in the last five years. (page 8)

ͻ

The total value of mega settlements (settlements over
$100 million) in 2016 represented more than two times
the value for these cases in 2015. (page 4)

Median Disclosure Dollar Loss (DDL) associated with
2016 settlements was 50 percent more than the prior
year. (page 10)

ͻ

The year 2016 had the highest percentage of cases
settling within two years of the filing date since 2006.
(page 17)

ͻ

The median settlement amount in 2016 was
$8.6 million, about 40 percent higher than the 2015
median of $6.1 million. (page 5)

ͻ

Compared to the prior five years (2011–2015), 2016
average “estimated damages” were 30 percent higher
while median “estimated damages” were almost
15 percent lower. (page 6)

Figure 1: Settlement Statistics
(Dollars in Millions)
1996–2015

2015

2016

Minimum

$0.1

$0.4

$0.9

Median

$8.3

$6.1

$8.6

Average

$55.5

$38.4

$70.5

$8,611.2

$982.8

$1,575.0

$85,266.6

$3,072.8

$5,990.0

1,536

80

85

Maximum
Total Amount
Number of Settlements

Note: Settlement dollars are adjusted for inflation; 2016 dollar equivalent figures are used.
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2016 Findings and Perspectives
Continuing the growth observed in the prior year, the
number of settlements approved in 2016 increased to 85—
substantially higher than the levels in 2011 through 2014.
This escalation can be attributed to the recent increase in
case filings.

Mega Settlements
Ten mega settlements in 2016—the highest number over the
last 10 years—contributed to an almost twofold increase in
the average settlement amount from 2015 to 2016. Two of
the mega settlements exceeded $1 billion. This was the first
year since 2006 with multiple settlements over $1 billion.

“Higher settlements in 2016 were
driven not only by higher ‘estimated
damages’ but also by other case
factors, leading to a six-year high in
settlements as a percentage of
‘estimated damages.’”
Dr. Laura E. Simmons
Senior Advisor
Cornerstone Research

“Estimated Damages”
To understand the latest settlement trends, it is helpful to
consider the important determinants of settlement amounts.
The most important factor in explaining settlement amounts
is a proxy (“estimated damages”) for shareholder damages.
For settlements approved in 2016, average “estimated
damages” reached the second-highest amount over the last
10 years. Settlements as a percentage of “estimated
damages” also increased over 2015, indicating that other
factors likely contributed to the rise in settlement amounts
as well. In particular, the percentage of settlements with
public pension plans as lead plaintiffs and the number of
restatement cases increased in 2016. In addition, the size of
the issuer defendant (as measured by total assets) was
substantially higher in 2016 as compared to 2015. All of
these factors are associated with higher settlement
amounts.

Developing Trends
The record number of case filings in 2016, 1 coupled with
four consecutive year-over-year increases, may continue to
fuel growth in the number of settlements into the coming
years.
While the number of settlements may increase, the most
recent data on case filings, however, indicate a potential
decline in very large cases, as measured by market
capitalization losses. This suggests that, at some point in the
next few years, a drop in mega settlements may follow.
Industry trends among securities class actions have
fluctuated in the last 20 years but, according to Cornerstone
Research’s Securities Class Action Filings—2016 Year in
Review, healthcare and related industry sectors, such as
biotech and pharmaceuticals, may play a growing role in
both the number and total dollar amounts of settlements in
securities class actions.
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Total Settlement Dollars
ͻ

The total value of settlements approved by courts in
2016 was more than $5.9 billion, almost double the
amount approved in 2015.

ͻ

The higher number of mega settlements in 2016 and
the corresponding higher average settlement value for
these cases contributed to the substantial increase in
total settlement dollars.

ͻ

The number of settlements approved in 2016 increased
only modestly from 2015, but grew substantially over
the annual numbers from 2011 to 2014.

2016 total settlement dollars exceeded
inflation-adjusted totals for eight of the
nine prior years.

Figure 2: Total Settlement Dollars
2007–2016
(Dollars in Millions)
$8,377

$5,990
$4,917
$4,154
$3,586

$3,336

$3,080

$3,073

$1,453

2007
N=109

2008
N=97

2009
N=99

2010
N=85

2011
N=65

$1,164

2012
N=56

2013
N=66

2014
N=63

2015
N=80

2016
N=85

Note: Settlement dollars are adjusted for inflation; 2016 dollar equivalent figures are used.
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Mega Settlements
ͻ

Four of the 10 approved mega settlements in 2016
were between $100 million and $250 million; four were
between $250 million and $500 million; and two
exceeded $1 billion. The last observed settlement over
$1 billion was in 2013.

ͻ

The median mega settlement in 2016 was $318 million,
almost twice the median in 2015.

ͻ

In 2016, $4.8 billion of the total $6 billion settlement
value came from mega settlements.

ͻ

The number of mega settlements as a percentage of all
settlements in 2016 was the highest over the last 10
years.

ͻ

Mega settlements have accounted for 72 percent of all
settlement dollars on average from 2007–2016.

The total value of mega settlements in
2016 was more than two times the
prior year’s value.

Figure 3: Mega Settlements
2007–2016
Total Mega Settlement Dollars as a Percentage of All Settlement Dollars
Number of Mega Settlements as a Percentage of All Settlements
84%

81%

79%
74%

73%

73%

60%
52%
41%
34%

7%

2007

9%
5%

2008

2009

8%

2010

11%
5%
2011

10%

9%

12%

3%
2012

2013

Securities Class Action Settlements—2016 Review and Analysis

2014

2015

2016

cornerstone.com

4

Case 1:12-cv-00292-RM-KMT Document 245-1 Filed 05/05/17 USDC Colorado Page 9 of 29

Settlement Size
ͻ

ͻ

The proportion of cases settling for $2 million or less
(often referred to as “nuisance suits”) in 2016 was
12 percent (10 cases), a drop from 25 percent
(20 cases) in 2015 and a return to 2013 and 2014
proportions.
The percentage of cases settling for less than $5 million
also decreased in 2016 compared to prior years.

The median settlement amount
increased more than 40 percent from
$6.1 million in 2015 to $8.6 million
in 2016.

ͻ

In 2016, 56 percent of settlements fell between
$5 million and $50 million, 18 percent higher than the
rate for all prior post–Reform Act years.

ͻ

Among all post–Reform Act settlements, 79 percent
have been for amounts equal to or less than
$25 million.

ͻ

The higher proportion of 2016 cases settling for
$150 million or more reflects the record number of
mega settlements compared to the last 10 years.

ͻ

Median total assets for issuer defendants settling in
2016 were more than 41 percent higher than the
median asset value for 2015 settlements (adjusted for
inflation) and 15 percent higher than the median total
assets for issuers settling in the prior 10 years.

Figure 4: Distribution of Post–Reform Act Settlements
(Dollars in Millions)
1996–2015

34.8%

2016

28.2%

27.1%

20.5%
18.4%
15.3%
12.9% 13.4%

< $5

$5–$10

$10–$20

$20–$50

4.7%

3.5%

2.9% 2.4%

2.3% 2.4%

2.1%

$50–$75

$75–$100

$100–$150 $150–$250 $250–$500

2.5%
1.2%

1.8% 2.4%

1.2%

> $500

Note: Settlement dollars are adjusted for inflation; 2016 dollar equivalent figures are used.
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Damages Estimates and Market
Capitalization Losses
“Estimated Damages”
“Estimated damages” are a simplified measure of potential
shareholder losses that allows for use of a consistent method
in this study and therefore the identification and analysis of
potential trends. While “estimated damages” are found to be
the most important factor in predicting settlement amounts,
they are not necessarily linked to the allegations in the
associated court pleadings.2 The damages estimates
presented in this report are not intended to be indicative of
actual economic losses borne by shareholders.

ͻ

Average and median “estimated damages” for 2016
increased modestly from 2015 (9 percent and
8 percent, respectively).

ͻ

Compared to the average and median values for the
previous five years (2011–2015), however, 2016
average “estimated damages” were 30 percent higher
while median “estimated damages” were 14 percent
lower.

ͻ

Overall, higher “estimated damages” are associated
with larger issuer defendants (measured by total assets
of the issuer) and more mature firms (measured by the
length of time publicly traded). In addition, plaintiffs are
more likely to name third-party defendants in larger
cases (as measured by “estimated damages”).

Average “estimated damages” in 2016
were the second highest in the last
10 years.

Figure 5: Median and Average “Estimated Damages”
2007–2016
(Dollars in Millions)
$5,890

Median “Estimated Damages”
Average “Estimated Damages”

$4,833
$4,452

$4,434

$3,270
$2,423

$2,201

$2,169

$2,092

$1,766

$666

$599
$284
2007

$344

2008

2009

$351

$349

$314

2010

2011

2012

2013

$476

2014

$335

2015

$361

2016

Note: “Estimated damages” are adjusted for inflation based on class period end dates.
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Damages Estimates and Market Capitalization Losses (continued)

“Estimated Damages” continued
ͻ

In 2016, median settlements as a percentage of
“estimated damages” increased 39 percent over 2015.

ͻ

While the median settlement as a percentage of
“estimated damages” for mega settlements has often
been lower than for non-mega settlements, in 2016 it
was slightly higher (2.7 percent and 2.5 percent for
mega settlements and non-mega settlements,
respectively).

In 2016, median settlements as a
percentage of “estimated damages”
jumped from 2015’s historic low.

Figure 6: Median Settlements as a Percentage of “Estimated Damages”
2007–2016

2.8%

2.9%

2.9%
2.5%

2.4%
2.1%

2.0%

2.2%

2.1%
1.8%

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013
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Damages Estimates and Market Capitalization Losses (continued)

“Estimated Damages” continued
ͻ

Smaller cases settled for a lower percentage of
“estimated damages” in 2016 relative to mid-range
cases when compared to prior years.

ͻ

Median settlements as a percentage of “estimated
damages” in 2016 increased 24 percent from the 2011–
2015 median and were higher than any percentage in
the last five years.

The rise in the 2016 median settlement
as a proportion of “estimated
damages” puts it in line with the
median for the prior 10 years.

Figure 7: Median Settlements as a Percentage of “Estimated Damages” by Damages Ranges
(Dollars in Millions)
10.8%
2006–2015
2016

7.3%

5.8%
4.5%
3.4%
2.4%

3.0%

2.7%

2.5%

1.9%

1.8%
1.0%

Total Sample

Less Than $50

$50–$124

$125–$249

$250–$499

$500–$999
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0.7%

$5,000 or
Greater

cornerstone.com

8

Case 1:12-cv-00292-RM-KMT Document 245-1 Filed 05/05/17 USDC Colorado Page 13 of
29
Damages Estimates and Market Capitalization Losses (continued)

Damages Estimation Approaches
“Estimated Damages” vs. Tiered Damages
Tiered damages are an alternative damages measure based
on the dollar value of stock price movements on dates
detailed in the settlement plan of allocation. They provide
an alternative measure of potential investor losses for more
recent securities class action settlements. 3
As a measure that is based on specific company stock price
declines (either at the end or during the class period), rather
than daily deviations from movements in an index, tiered
damages are conceptually more closely aligned with the
approach typically followed by plaintiffs in recent years to

estimate damages. The methodology for tiered damages
also accounts for the U.S. Supreme Court’s 2005 landmark
decision in Dura whereby damages cannot be associated
with shares sold before information regarding the alleged
fraud reaches the market. 4
Tiered damages, like “estimated damages,” are highly
correlated with settlement amounts and are an important
component in ongoing analyses of settlement outcome
determinants.

Figure 8: Damages Estimation Approaches
2007–2016
(Dollars in Millions)

$800

Median Tiered Damages
Median Settlements
as a Percentage of
Tiered Damages

$700

Median "Estimated Damages"

10%
9%
8%

$600
7%
$500
$400

6%

Median Settlements
as a Percentage of
"Estimated Damages"

5%
4%

$300

3%
$200
2%
$100

1%

$0

0%
2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Note: Damages figures are adjusted for inflation based on class period end dates.
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Damages Estimates and Market Capitalization Losses (continued)

Disclosure Dollar Loss
Disclosure Dollar Loss (DDL) captures the stock price reaction
to the class-ending disclosure that resulted in the first filed
complaint. DDL is calculated as the decline in the market
capitalization of the defendant firm from the trading day
immediately preceding the end of the class period to the
trading day immediately following the end of the class period
and, as such, does not incorporate any estimate of the
number of shares traded during the class period. 5

ͻ

With an increase in both the average and median DDL
over 2015, the trend in DDL for cases settled in 2016
follows a pattern similar to that for “estimated damages.”

ͻ

While the aggregate trends in DDL and “estimated
damages” are often similar, for individual cases, the two
measures typically differ substantially.

ͻ

Total DDL associated with settlements approved in 2016
was nearly $81 billion, 20 percent below the average
from 2007 through 2015.

Median DDL in 2016 was 50 percent
more than 2015.
Figure 9: Median and Average Disclosure Dollar Loss
2007–2016
(Dollars in Millions)
$1,870

Median DDL
Average DDL

$1,317
$1,120

$1,090
$928
$839

$793
$642

$598
$448

$175

2007

$144

2008

$161

2009

$202

$193
$126

2010

2011

$111

2012

2013

$125

2014

$90
2015

$135

2016

Note: DDL is adjusted for inflation based on class period end dates.
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Analysis of Settlement Characteristics
Nature of Claims
ͻ

In 2016, there were 10 settlements involving Section 11
and/or Section 12(a)(2) claims (’33 Act claims) that did
not involve Rule 10b-5 allegations, the second most
active year in the last decade. 6

ͻ

As reported in Cornerstone Research’s Securities Class
Action Filings—2016 Year in Review, the frequency of
filings involving Section 11 claims in California state
courts has increased in recent years. 7

ͻ

Cases settling in 2016 involving combined claims (Rule
10b-5 and Section 11 and/or Section 12(a)(2) claims)
had, on average, twice as many federal docket entries
as cases involving just Rule 10b-5 claims—indicating the
more complex nature of such matters.

ͻ

Four of the five state court settlements in 2016 were
for California state cases with ’33 Act claims only.

Settlements as a percentage of
“estimated damages” are considerably
higher for cases with only Section 11
and/or Section 12(a)(2) claims because
these cases typically have smaller
“estimated damages” compared to
other claim types.

Figure 10: Settlements by Nature of Claims
1996–2015
(Dollars in Millions)
Median Settlement

Median “Estimated
Damages”

Median Settlement
as a Percentage of
“Estimated Damages”

97

$4.0

$55.6

7.4%

281

$13.6

$537.2

3.0%

1,220

$8.1

$373.4

2.5%

Number of
Settlements

Section 11 and/or Section 12(a)(2) Only

Both Rule 10b-5 and Section 11
and/or 12(a)(2)
Rule 10b-5 Only

Note: Settlement dollars and “estimated damages” are adjusted for inflation; 2016 dollar equivalent figures are used. “Estimated damages” are adjusted for
inflation based on class period end dates.
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Analysis of Settlement Characteristics (continued)

Accounting Allegations
This research examines three types of accounting issues
among settled cases: (1) alleged GAAP violations, (2)
restatements, and (3) reported accounting irregularities. 8 For
further details regarding settlements of accounting cases,
see Cornerstone Research’s annual report on Accounting
Class Action Filings and Settlements.
ͻ

Among all post–Reform Act settlements, alleged GAAP
violations are included in approximately 60 percent of
cases. In 2016, however, the frequency of GAAP
violation allegations was 54 percent.

ͻ

Restatements were involved in more than 30 percent of
cases settled in 2016. These cases were associated with
higher settlements as a percentage of “estimated
damages” compared to cases without restatements.

ͻ

In 2016, no settlements involved reported accounting
irregularities, and there was only one such case among
2015 settlements. Historically, approximately 6 percent
of cases involve accounting irregularities.

The percentage of cases alleging GAAP
violations declined for a second straight
year in 2016.

Figure 11: Median Settlements as a Percentage of “Estimated Damages” and Accounting Allegations
1996–2016

Accounting
Irregularities

Alleged
GAAP
Violations

No
Alleged
GAAP

3.0%

3.0%

Restatement
3.5%

3.9%

No
Restatement

2.9%

2.7%

N=967

N=631

N=518

N=1,080
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Analysis of Settlement Characteristics (continued)

Third-Party Codefendants
ͻ

Third parties, such as an auditor or an underwriter, are
often named as codefendants in larger, more complex
cases.

ͻ

In 2016, however, the median settlement for cases with
a third-party named defendant was 26 percent lower
than for cases without a third-party named defendant.

ͻ

Only 17 percent of accounting-related case settlements
in 2016 had a named auditor defendant.

ͻ

Underwriter defendants were named in 79 percent of
cases with Section 11 claims in 2016.

On average, 27 percent of post–Reform
Act settlements involved a named
auditor or underwriter codefendant.

Figure 12: Median Settlements as a Percentage of “Estimated Damages” and Third-Party Codefendants
1996–2016
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Analysis of Settlement Characteristics (continued)

Institutional Investors
ͻ

In 2016, the median settlement amount for cases with
institutional investor lead plaintiffs was more than twoand-a-half times that of cases with no institutional
investor as a lead plaintiff, but settlements as a
percentage of “estimated damages” were only slightly
higher.

ͻ

Institutions, including public pension plans—a subset of
institutional investors—tend to be involved as plaintiffs
in larger cases (i.e., cases with higher “estimated
damages”).

ͻ

In 2016, 55 percent of settlements with “estimated
damages” greater than $500 million involved a public
pension plan as lead plaintiff, compared to 30 percent
for cases with “estimated damages” of $500 million or
less.

ͻ

Cases in which public pension plans serve as lead or colead plaintiff also tend to involve larger issuer
defendants, longer class periods, securities in addition
to common stock, accounting allegations, and other
indicators of more serious cases such as criminal
charges. These cases are also associated with longer
periods to reach settlement.

Public pension involvement rose for the
second consecutive year.

Figure 13: Median Settlement Amounts and Public Pensions
2007–2016
(Dollars in Millions)
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Analysis of Settlement Characteristics (continued)

Derivative Actions
ͻ

In 2016, 40 percent of settled cases were accompanied
by derivative actions, compared to 34 percent for all
prior post–Reform Act years.

ͻ

Historically, accompanying derivative actions have been
associated with relatively large securities class actions. 9
In 2016, however, 38 percent of cases with “estimated
damages” of $500 million or less involved a companion
derivative action—just below the 42 percent of cases
with “estimated damages” of more than $500 million.

ͻ

As a percentage of all derivative actions, the prevalence
of companion derivative actions filed in California has
increased annually from 14 percent in 2012 to
35 percent in 2016..

In 2016, the median settlement for a
case with a companion derivative
action was $12 million versus
$8.5 million for those without.

Figure 14: Frequency of Derivative Actions
2007–2016
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Analysis of Settlement Characteristics (continued)

Corresponding SEC Actions
Cases with a corresponding SEC action related to the
allegations (evidenced by the filing of a litigation release or
administrative proceeding prior to settlement) are typically
associated with significantly higher settlement amounts and
have higher settlements as a percentage of “estimated
damages.” 10
For related research on SEC enforcement activity, see t
Securities Enforcement Empirical Database (SEED). 11
ͻ

In 2016, however, the median settlement for cases with
an SEC action ($8.4 million) differed only slightly from
the median settlement for cases without a
corresponding SEC action ($8.6 million).

ͻ

Across all post–Reform Act cases, for settlements of
cases involving accompanying SEC actions, the issuer
defendant’s assets have averaged $65 billion, as
compared to only $18 billion for settlements without
accompanying SEC actions.

ͻ

While cases with accompanying SEC actions tend to
involve larger issuer defendants, they are also more
frequently associated with delisted firms. In addition,
these cases often involve settlements prior to the first
ruling on a motion to dismiss.

After doubling in 2015, the number of
2016 settlements with a corresponding
SEC action returned to the lower levels
observed for 2012–2014.

Figure 15: Frequency of SEC Actions
2007–2016
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Time to Settlement and Case Complexity
ͻ

The percentage of settlements in 2016 occurring within
two years after the filing date was at its highest level in
the last 10 years.

ͻ

In 2016, the median settlement for cases settling within
two years was 70 percent lower than for cases taking
longer to settle.

ͻ

The median number of docket entries for cases settling
within two years in 2016 was 19 percent higher than
the median for the prior 10 years, indicating a relatively
high level of activity during the tenure of these cases.

ͻ

The spike in the median settlement for 2016 cases
settling after five years from filing is driven, in large
part, by five mega settlements out of the 14
settlements in this category.

ͻ

Overall, the time to settlement tends to be longer for
larger cases (as measured by issuer defendant size and
“estimated damages”), cases involving third-party
defendants, and cases with distressed issuer firms.

In 2016, the median time from filing
date to settlement was less than
three years.

Figure 16: Median Settlement by Duration from Filing Date to Settlement Hearing Date
(Dollars in Millions)
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Litigation Stages
This report studies three stages in the litigation process that
may be considered an indication of the strength of the
merits of a case (e.g., surviving a motion to dismiss) and/or
the time and effort invested by the lead plaintiff counsel:
Stage 1: Settlement before the first ruling on a motion to
dismiss
Stage 2: Settlement after a ruling on motion to dismiss, but
before a ruling on motion for summary judgment
Stage 3: Settlement after a ruling on motion for summary
judgment
ͻ

In 2016, 25 percent of settlements occurred in Stage 1,
an increase from 18 percent for cases settled in 2015.

ͻ

Among all post–Reform Act settlements, cases settling
in Stage 1 have the smallest median “estimated
damages” and the smallest median assets whereas
Stage 3 settlements have the highest medians.

ͻ

Public pensions are involved as lead plaintiffs in
17 percent of cases that settle in Stage 1 and in
30 percent of cases that settle in Stage 3.

Higher settlement amounts but lower
settlements as a percentage of
“estimated damages” are associated
with cases settling after a ruling on
motion for summary judgment.

Figure 17: Litigation Stages
2007–2016
(Dollars in Millions)
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Cornerstone Research’s Settlement
Prediction Analysis
This research applies regression analysis to examine which
characteristics of securities cases were associated with
settlement outcomes. The regression analysis is designed to
better understand and predict the total settlement amount,
given the characteristics of a particular securities case. This
analysis can also be applied to estimate the probabilities
associated with reaching alternative settlement levels as well
as to explore hypothetical scenarios, including, but not
limited to, the effects on settlement amounts given the
presence or absence of particular factors found to
significantly affect settlement outcomes.
ͻ

ͻ

ͻ

Settlements were higher when “estimated damages,”
DDL, defendant asset size, or the number of docket
entries were larger.
Settlements were also higher in cases involving
intentional misstatements or omissions in the issuer’s
financial statements, financial restatements, a
corresponding SEC action, a codefendant underwriter
and/or auditor, an accompanying derivative action, a
public pension involved as lead plaintiff, a noncash
component to the settlement, filed criminal charges, or
securities other than common stock alleged to be
damaged.
Settlements were lower if the settlement occurred in
2009 or later, if the issuer was distressed, or if the
issuer traded on a non-major exchange.

Determinants of
Settlement Outcomes
Based on the research sample of post–Reform Act cases that
settled through December 2016, the factors that were
important determinants of settlement amounts included the
following:
ͻ

“Estimated damages”

ͻ

Disclosure Dollar Loss (DDL)

ͻ

Most recently reported total assets of the defendant
firm

ͻ

Number of entries on the lead case docket

ͻ

The year in which the settlement occurred

ͻ

Whether the issuer reported intentional misstatements
or omissions in financial statements

ͻ

Whether a restatement of financials related to the
alleged class period was announced

ͻ

Whether there was a corresponding SEC action against
the issuer, other defendants, or related parties

ͻ

Whether the plaintiffs named an auditor and/or
underwriter as a codefendant

ͻ

Whether the issuer defendant was distressed

ͻ

Whether a companion derivative action was filed

ͻ

Whether a public pension was a lead plaintiff

ͻ

Whether noncash components, such as common stock
or warrants, made up a portion of the settlement fund

ͻ

Whether the plaintiffs alleged that securities other than
common stock were damaged

ͻ

Whether criminal charges/indictments were brought
with similar allegations to the underlying class action

ͻ

Whether the issuer traded on a non-major exchange
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Research Sample

Data Sources

ͻ

The database used in this report focuses on cases
alleging fraudulent inflation in the price of a
corporation’s common stock (i.e., excluding cases with
alleged classes of only bondholders, preferred
stockholders, etc., and excluding cases alleging
fraudulent depression in price and M&A cases).

In addition to SCAS, data sources include Dow Jones Factiva,
Bloomberg, the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP)
at University of Chicago Booth School of Business, Standard
& Poor’s Compustat, court filings and dockets, SEC registrant
filings, SEC litigation releases and administrative
proceedings, LexisNexis, and public press.

ͻ

The sample is limited to cases alleging Rule 10b-5,
Section 11, and/or Section 12(a)(2) claims brought by
purchasers of a corporation’s common stock. These
criteria are imposed to ensure data availability and to
provide a relatively homogeneous set of cases in terms
of the nature of the allegations.

ͻ

The current sample includes 1,621 securities class
actions filed after passage of the Reform Act (1995) and
settled from 1996 through 2016. These settlements are
identified based on a review of case activity collected
by Securities Class Action Services LLC (SCAS). 12

ͻ

The designated settlement year, for purposes of this
report, corresponds to the year in which the hearing to
approve the settlement was held. 13 Cases involving
multiple settlements are reflected in the year of the
most recent partial settlement, provided certain
conditions are met. 14
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Endnotes
1

Securities Class Action Filings—2016 Year in Review, Cornerstone Research, 2017.

2

The simplified “estimated damages” model is applied to common stock only. For all cases involving Rule 10b-5 claims,
damages are calculated using a market-adjusted, backward-pegged value line. For cases involving only Section 11 and/or
Section 12(a)(2) claims (1933 Act Claims), damages are calculated using a model that caps the purchase price at the
offering price. Volume reduction assumptions are based on the exchange on which the issuer’s common stock traded.
Finally, no adjustments for institutions, insiders, or short sellers are made to the underlying float.

3

The dates used to identify the applicable inflation bands may be supplemented with information from the operative
complain t at the time of settlement.

4

Tiered damages are calculated for cases that settled after 2005. The calculation of tiered damages utilizes a single value
line when there is one alleged corrective disclosure date (at the end of the class period) or a tiered value line when there
are multiple dates identified in the settlement notice.

5

This measure does not incorporate additional stock price declines during the alleged class period that may affect certain
purchasers’ potential damages claims. As this measure does not isolate movements in the defendant’s stock price that
are related to case allegations, it is not intended to represent an estimate of investor losses. The DDL calculation also
does not apply a model of investors’ share-trading behavior to estimate the number of shares damaged.

6

Intensified activity in the U.S. IPO market in recent years, in tandem with the increase in Section 11 filings (either alone or
together with Rule 10b-5 claims), suggests that these cases are likely to be more prevalent in the near future. However, a
slowdown in IPO activity reported in 2016 may eventually contribute to a reduction in ’33 Act claim only cases.

7

See Securities Class Action Filings—2016 Year in Review, Cornerstone Research, 2017, page 4.

8

The three categories of accounting issues analyzed in this report are: (1) GAAP violations—cases with allegations involving
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP); (2) restatements—cases involving a restatement (or announcement of
a restatement) of financial statements; and (3) accounting irregularities—cases in which the defendant has reported the
occurrence of accounting irregularities (intentional misstatements or omissions) in its financial statements.

9

This is true whether or not the settlement of the derivative action coincides with the settlement of the underlying class
action, or occurs at a different time.

10

It could be that the merits in such cases are stronger, or simply that the presence of an accompanying SEC action provides
plaintiffs with increased leverage when negotiating a settlement.

11

The Securities Enforcement Empirical Database (SEED) tracks and records information for SEC enforcement actions filed
against public companies traded on major U.S. exchanges and their subsidiaries. Created by the NYU Pollack Center for
Law & Business in cooperation with Cornerstone Research, SEED facilitates the analysis and reporting of SEC enforcement
actions through regular updates of new filings and settlement information for ongoing enforcement actions.

12

Available on a subscription basis.

13

Movements of partial settlements between years can cause differences in amounts reported for prior years from those
presented in earlier reports.

14

This categorization is based on the timing of the settlement approval. If a new partial settlement equals or exceeds
50 percent of the then-current settlement fund amount, the entirety of the settlement amount is re-categorized to
reflect the settlement hearing date of the most recent partial settlement. If a subsequent partial settlement is less than
50 percent of the then-current total, the partial settlement is added to the total settlement amount and the settlement
hearing date is left unchanged.
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Appendices
Appendix 1: Settlement Percentiles
(Dollars in Millions)
Average

10th

25th

Median

75th

90th

2016

$70.5

$1.9

$4.2

$8.6

$33.0

$146.0

2015

$38.4

$1.3

$2.1

$6.1

$15.5

$92.1

2014

$18.5

$1.7

$2.9

$6.1

$13.4

$50.7

2013

$74.5

$2.0

$3.1

$6.7

$22.8

$85.0

2012

$64.0

$1.3

$2.8

$9.8

$37.1

$120.2

2011

$22.4

$2.0

$2.7

$6.1

$19.2

$44.6

2010

$39.2

$2.2

$4.7

$12.4

$27.5

$87.6

2009

$42.0

$2.6

$4.3

$9.0

$22.4

$74.3

2008

$31.8

$2.2

$4.2

$8.9

$21.2

$56.2

2007

$76.9

$1.7

$3.4

$10.4

$20.3

$92.4

1996–2016

$43.7

$1.7

$3.5

$8.3

$20.9

$74.0

Note: Settlement dollars are adjusted for inflation; 2016 dollar equivalent figures are used.

Appendix 2: Select Industry Sectors
1996–2016
(Dollars in Millions)
Industry

Number of
Settlements

Median
Settlement

Median
“Estimated Damages”

Median Settlement
as a Percentage of
“Estimated Damages”

Technology

361

$7.8

$324.9

2.8%

Financial

195

$14.5

$812.8

2.5%

Telecommunications

151

$9.1

$501.8

2.2%

Retail

131

$7.1

$246.7

3.8%

Pharmaceuticals

125

$8.3

$387.6

2.4%

Healthcare

64

$8.6

$296.1

3.3%

Note: Settlement dollars and “estimated damages” are adjusted for inflation; 2016 dollar equivalent figures are used. “Estimated damages” are adjusted for
inflation based on class period end dates.

Securities Class Action Settlements—2016 Review and Analysis

cornerstone.com 22

Case 1:12-cv-00292-RM-KMT Document 245-1 Filed 05/05/17 USDC Colorado Page 27 of
29
Appendix 3: Settlements by Federal Circuit Court
2007–2016
(Dollars in Millions)
Circuit

Number of
Settlements

Median
Number of Docket
Entries

Median
Settlement

Median Settlement
as a Percentage of
“Estimated Damages”

34

143

$7.0

2.6%

204

117

$11.9

2.1%

Third

76

113

$9.0

2.2%

Fourth

33

137

$8.3

1.8%

Fifth

44

104

$6.6

2.0%

Sixth

38

140

$19.8

3.1%

Seventh

44

146

$10.2

2.7%

Eighth

20

195

$10.7

3.3%

Ninth

206

164

$7.9

2.2%

Tenth

23

153

$8.4

1.6%

Eleventh

53

134

$5.2

2.2%

3

267

$48.1

5.0%

First
Second

DC

Note: Settlement dollars and “estimated damages” are adjusted for inflation; 2016 dollar equivalent figures are used. “Estimated damages” are adjusted for
inflation based on class period end dates.
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